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Oklahoma Teachers’ Retirement System


I.	INTRODUCTION

The Teachers’ Retirement System of Oklahoma (hereinafter referred to as OTRS), a $14 Billion fund, is seeking through a competitive bid process, proposals from qualified firms to provide international equity investment management in emerging and frontier markets.

OTRS was created by an act of the Oklahoma Legislature in 1943 after citizens amended the state constitution allowing the creation of a public retirement program for educators. OTRS began operations on July 1, 1943.  Membership in OTRS is available to all public school employees working half-time or more.  Employees of more than 600 local school districts, career technology schools, public colleges and universities are enrolled as members of OTRS. As of June 30, 2014, OTRS had 166,398 members (89,570 active contributing, 20,439 inactive and 56,389 retired members).

The mission of OTRS is to provide retirement benefits to Oklahoma's educators. The Board of Trustees and OTRS staff oversees its administration to ensure adequate funds are maintained to meet the financial obligations of the entire membership. In directing the investments of OTRS funds, the Board seeks to maximize gains, minimize losses and protect the Trust. The staff stands ready to assist OTRS members in any matter pertaining to accruing benefits, and planning for and enjoying a well-earned retirement.

The investment consulting firm employed by OTRS is Gregory W Group.  Inquiries regarding this RFP will be referred to Mr. Doug Anderson, via email only.  His email address is danderson@gregorywgroup.com.  The actuarial consulting firm for OTRS is Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and Company.  OTRS has an assumed interest rate of 8.0%.  The investment portfolio currently consists of:

1. fourteen (14) actively managed domestic equity portfolios; 
1. five (5) actively managed non-U.S. equity portfolios;
1. seven (7) actively managed domestic fixed income portfolios;
1. three (3) actively managed master limited partnership portfolios;
1. two (2) actively managed private equity portfolios;
1. ten (10) actively managed real estate portfolios;
1. two (2) actively managed special opportunity portfolios;
1. three (3) passive equity portfolios


The System’s current target asset allocation, as of December 31, 2014, is as follows:

	Asset Class
	Target Allocation

	All Cap/Large Cap
	17%

	Mid Cap
	13%

	Small Cap
	10%

	Total Domestic Equity
	40%

	
	

	Large Cap International Equity
	11.5%

	Small Cap International Equity
	6%

	Total International Equity
	17.5%

	
	

	Core Fixed Income
	17.5%

	
	

	High Yield Bonds
	6%

	MLP's
	7%

	Private Equity
	5%

	Real Estate
	7%

	Total Non-Core Assets
	25%




II.	SERVICES DESIRED

The purpose of this RFP is to solicit proposals from qualified firms to render international equity investment management in emerging and frontier markets.  In addition to portfolio management, the selected Advisor will be expected to:

A. Provide educational or training sessions for the Board and/or OTRS staff representatives on international equity investments in emerging and frontier markets.

B. Provide the staff with direct access to any available investment research and group publications produced by the Advisor’s firm.  

C. Prepare special analyses as requested by the OTRS staff to define goals and objectives, monitor portfolio risk, or for other purposes deemed valuable by the OTRS staff in the management of the international equity portfolio in emerging and frontier markets.

D. Attend Board and/or Investment Committee meetings as requested.  

E. Maintain regular communications with the OTRS staff, which would include frequent telephone consultations as required by the Advisor and/or staff in order to effectively accomplish all of the services required by this RFP. 

F. Calculate and report actual portfolio performance on monthly basis.

	


III.	MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

Respondents to the RFP must meet all of the following minimum qualifications and requirements to be given further consideration.  FAILURE TO SATISFY THE FOLLOWING WILL RESULT IN THE REJECTION OF THE PROPOSAL.

The firm must certify in writing that it meets all of the following minimum qualifications.  Such certification must include evidence of how each qualification is met and must be signed by an authorized member of your firm.

A. [bookmark: OLE_LINK1]Offeror must be an SEC-registered investment advisor or exempt from such registration (Form ADV or disclosure of the nature of the exemption must be submitted);

B. Offeror must have at least three major tax exempt clients; 

C. Offeror must have at least five year’s experience providing the specified services.  The experience qualification may be met either at the level of the organization or from assigned personnel who qualify from experience at a prior firm. 
  
IV. TIMELINE FOR CONSIDERATION	

May 8, 2015, 4:00 pm CDT		Manager Questions Due to OTRS

				Questions about the RFP should be
				 submitted to:
				 danderson@gregorywgroup.com


May 12, 2015, 4:00 pm CDT		Responses Due to Managers

					Responses to all questions will be 
					distributed to all parties who submit
					questions.


May 29, 2015, 4:00 pm CDT		RFP Responses Due











V. Requirements for Submission

A. PROPOSALS SHALL BE NO LONGER THAN FIFTY (50)  PAGES IN LENGTH AND SHALL INCLUDE:

1. A STATEMENT OF MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 
2. PROPOSAL QUESTIONNAIRE
3. FEE PROPOSAL

B. SUBMIT FIVE (5) HARD COPIES OF PROPOSAL AND ONE (1) ELECTRONIC VERSION BY 4:00 PM CST ON MAY 29, 2015. SUBMISSIONS SHOULD BE MAILED TO:

Please make sure that the RFP Number from the Cover Sheet of this RFP is plainly printed on the outside of the box or envelope containing the proposal. On the electronic version please put the RFP Number in the subject line of the email.

One hard copy mailed, and an electronic version emailed to:

Oklahoma Teachers Retirement System 
Attn: Melissa Kempkes
[bookmark: _GoBack]2500 N Lincoln Blvd, 5th Floor
Oliver Hodge Building
OKC, OK 73105
Melissa.Kempkes@trs.ok.gov


Four(4) hard copies mailed, and an electronic version emailed to:

Gregory Group
Attn: Douglas Anderson
320 S Boston Ave #2200
Tulsa, OK 74103
danderson@gregorywgroup.onmicrosoft.com
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INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT QUESTIONNAIRE
INTERNATIONAL EQUITY

	ORGANIZATION

1. Provide the name, title and contact information for the individual that would serve as our primary contact servicing this account.  Please provide both client service and portfolio management personnel if necessary.

2. Have you reviewed our investment policy statement?  Can you manage your International Equity portfolio in compliance with all applicable guidelines?  What part of your investment process/portfolio would not comply? 

3. Does your firm have the capability to manage an account that prohibits the use of soft dollars?

4. Provide a brief history of your organization; include the year you were established, general ownership structure, capital structure, specific details of any affiliated companies or joint ventures and/or affiliations with other financial or investment management firms, and the number and locations of your offices and staff levels at each.

5. What percent of your firm do active employees own?  Describe the amount owned by each active employee.  Does your firm have different classes of ownership?  What is the buyback procedure when an owner/employee retires or otherwise leaves the firm?

6. Explain your plans for expansion, particularly as they relate to accepting new client business and the quality of service to all clients.  Is there a limit to the number of new clients or assets your firm will accept?  Specifically in this product?

7. Has this strategy ever been closed and reopened?

8. Has there been any litigation involving your firm in the past ten years?  If yes, provide details.  Please detail the status of any SEC or other legal inquiry into your firm.

9. Indicate any potential conflicts of interest your firm may have in the management of this account.  Specify any activities of affiliates or past organizations, brokerage activities, investment banking activities or any other potential involvements.

10. Will any parties outside of your organization receive any benefits from this contract? If yes, please list the party and the reason and amount of the benefit.

11. Do you accept client direction for brokerage?

12. Are you a registered investment advisor?

13. What year did the firm begin managing International Equity accounts?  This particular type of account?

14. What proportion of your firm’s account relationships are in this product?

15. For your proposed International Equity product, indicate whether your current investment capabilities were developed in-house or through the acquisition of another investment firm.  If the latter, specify the name of the acquired firm and date when this acquisition occurred.

16. List your primary sources for research, if in-house, provide name(s) and location(s) of individual(s).

17. Provide the US$ amounts and carriers for your Errors & Omission, Directors & Officers and Fiduciary Liability insurance policies.

18. Are your employees bonded?  If so, provide US$ amount and carrier.

19. Provide five references for your International Equity management services.  If possible include at least three public clients.

20. Provide a full client list for your International Equity management services.

21. List all International Equity clients (regardless of product) that your firm has gained and lost within the past five years.  Include a reason for all accounts lost during this period. (Please follow format below.)

Clients Lost
	Date
	Type of Client
	Assets
(in millions)
	Assignment
	Benchmark
	Reason for
Departure

	3/1/13
	Corporate Pension
	$200
	International  Equity
	ACWI ex US 
	Professional Turnover

	5/1/14
	Public Pension
	$300
	International  Equity
	MSCI 
	Portfolio Restructuring

	
	Total
	$500
	
	
	











    		Clients Gained
	Date
	Type of Client
	Assets
(in millions)
	Assignment
	Benchmark

	8/1/13
	Endowment
	$250
	International  Equity
	MSCI

	9/1/14
	Public Pension
	$400
	International  Equity
	ACWI ex US

	
	Total
	$650
	
	




22. Provide the composition of your International Equity management team.  Include brief professional biographies for each person, their individual roles, location and tenure with the team.

23. Provide the management structure of your entire firm, highlighting the International Equity team’s position and relationships.

24. Are the investment professionals on the International Equity team under employment contracts with the firm?

25. Discuss the compensation structure (salary and incentives) of those investment professionals.  How does the structure retain and motivate investment professionals?

26. Describe the process for evaluating investment professional job performance?

27. For 2015 year-to-date and each of the previous five calendar years, provide the number of investment professionals directly involved with each proposed strategy gained and lost, including the roles of these individuals (i.e. portfolio manager, research analyst, etc.).

28. Does your firm have any unique recruiting and/or training programs?

29. Please describe any succession plans for the management of the firm and for the continuity of leadership within the relevant investment teams. What plans, if any, are there if a key person were to become unavailable for an extended length of time?

30. Have any principals, partners or senior managers left the firm within the last three years?  If yes, list each person’s name, title, date of departure, and state the reason for each of these professionals leaving.

31. Specify the individuals (up to ten) deemed by the firm to be crucial to the proposed Asset Class’ success.  Outline it by each proposed strategy so that the senior members are listed once or a minimum of times.  Please include for each individual: Name, Years of Experience, Years with Firm, Years with the asset class or each proposed strategy (as appropriate), percent of time devoted to the asset class or each proposed strategy (as appropriate), and indicate if the individual is a shareholder (Yes or No).

32. Please submit certified financial statements which include a balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flow, and all applicable notes for the most recent calendar year or the firm’s most recent fiscal year.  

33. Has the audit opinion on the firm’s financial statements been "unqualified" for the last three years? If not, please explain.  Has the firm had a change in auditors over the last three years?  If so, explain why.

34. List which global custodians with which the firm currently interfaces.

35. Briefly describe the firm’s administrative/back office operations and organizational structure.

36. Please state whether the firm employs a compliance officer.  If so, what are the duties of the compliance officer?  To whom does the compliance officer report?

37. Submit a copy of the firm’s ethics or standards of conduct policy. What steps are taken to ensure that employees comply with this policy?

38. What handbooks, manuals, written policies, written procedures or training are provided to new and current employees? How extensively does the firm monitor and discipline employees?  

39. Provide the firm’s written policy on keeping the process for employees’ trading of their own securities independent from the processes for trading securities for clients. Discuss procedures used to monitor and control personal trading activities.

40. Discuss procedures used to prevent and detect rogue/unauthorized trading in client or firm accounts.

41. Has any member or representative of the firm had contact with any OTRS Board Member, Staff Member or Consultant during the last 12 months regarding this RFP?  What has been the nature of these contacts?

42. Is the firm in compliance with the USA PATRIOT Act?

43. If the firm has experienced significant growth in AUM, how has this affected the liquidity profile of each proposed strategy?  How has the firm been able to mitigate any potential negative effects of this asset growth on the ability to generate strong excess returns going forward?



	INVESTMENT PROCESS

1. Provide a complete review of your firm’s International Equity investment methodology and decision-making process.  Comment specifically on the following:

Stock selection criteria
Sector/Industry weightings
Country allocations
Portfolio turnover
Number of holdings
Top-Down versus Bottom-Up analysis
Liquidity requirements
Trading cost management
Position weighting strategy
Capitalization strategy
Risk control
Currency management and hedging if applicable
Developed versus emerging market strategy
Sell discipline

2. Are sector/industry allocations determined relative to a designated benchmark?  If so, which one?

3. Does the International Equity product include investments in emerging markets?  If so, discuss in detail, noting any investment guideline limits.

4. Is the level of cash in your portfolio a result of your asset allocation decision or is the cash accumulation a residual of the security selection process?

5. Please give the average and median market capitalizations of your portfolio by quarter for the past three years (twelve observations) ending with the quarter ended March 31, 2015. 

6. Describe your international economic research staff and structure.  

7. Do portfolio managers function as research analysts?

8. Describe your process and systems for monitoring individual positions, derivative contracts, and trading on a twenty-four hour basis.

9. Discuss security trading practices connected with the execution of investment decisions for your firm.

10. Does the firm execute its own foreign exchange for trades or use a third party service?

11. Provide an overview of the firm’s trade allocation protocols and procedures for controlling performance dispersion between accounts with substantially the same guidelines.

12. Please briefly describe the firm’s trading policy. How many bids (or offers) are typically received per trade? How is it determined which broker is used for a trade? Please include any information what would help to understand the trading processes, including a copy of the firm’s policies for approving and monitoring brokers.

13. Provide an overview of the firm’s pre- and post-trade investment guideline monitoring practices. Is a separate, independent group responsible for ensuring guideline compliance?   What systems does the firm have in place to ensure compliance with such guidelines?

14. What is your firm’s competitive advantage?  How is this competitive advantage integrated in your investment process?

15. What is the market anomaly or inefficiency you are trying to exploit to create alpha?

16. Please describe any adjustments made in the last five years to philosophy, strategy, portfolio construction or risk controls.

17. What should an investor expect in terms of volatility, return and risk in absolute terms and relative to your most appropriate benchmark index?

18. Describe market conditions under which this strategy has performed best and worst.

19. Illustrate the firm’s investment process for the proposed Asset Class by identifying and describing the analysis behind two buys made during the past three months that are deemed to be most significant (one should address an adjustment to a position).  Limit the discussion of each stock purchase to one page.  

20. Illustrate the firm’s investment process for the proposed Asset Class by identifying and describing the analysis behind two recent sells (one of these sells should be an investment that did not work out) made in a portfolio.  Limit the discussion of each stock sale to one page.

21. Describe the use of ETFs, closed-end funds, and other vehicles to gain market exposure to certain countries or sectors.  Describe how their use may affect proposed fees

22. What enhancements have been made to the investment process over the past five years (e.g. emphasized, deemphasized or changed purchase criteria)?

23. Provide a summary cost analysis of currency transactions by strategy for the years 2012, 2013 and 2014.

24. Discuss any periods in which each proposed strategy experienced exceptionally good/bad performance or high/low volatility.  In essence, provide context and explanation for any periods that had significant variances from the benchmark.

25. Identify the person(s) or group primarily responsible for the risk management function.  Discuss how risk management both interacts with and maintains independence from the other aspects of the investment process.

26. How are your views on risks unique to individual countries reflected in the investment process (i.e. political risk, liquidity risk, regulatory risk, etc.)?

27. List applicable portfolio constraints or guidelines (e.g., target exposures and allowable ranges, either benchmark-relative or absolute) and describe any other quantitative or qualitative risk controls.  Include such things as maximum position sizes, as well as minimum or maximum sector and country weightings.  

28. Describe any hedging activities pursued in the proposed Asset Class, including what risks/exposures are typically hedged, instruments used and how hedging activities enhance risk-adjusted performance.  Include a discussion regarding the firm’s currency hedging approach and policies.

29. Please provide performance attribution for your international  equity strategy listing historical sources of alpha on a calendar year basis from 2005 to 2014 and the first quarter of 2015 according to:

Country Allocation:
Sector Allocation:
Currency Allocation:
Stock Selection:
Other:







	PERFORMANCE

1. Discuss the return dispersion between the accounts within your separate account composite.

2. Provide quarterly performance, gross of fees, since inception through 3.31.15.  Please provide the data in a Microsoft Excel file on a thumb drive included with your RFP response. Performance should be displayed in percent format with at least two significant figures in the B column of the spreadsheet, in descending date order.  Please use the A column to display the quarter end date.  SAMPLE:

	Column A
	Column B

	12/31/2014
	1.11%

	3/31/2015
	2.22%



3. Please name the file in the following format: 

Firmname_product.xls

4. Provide 1, 3, 5, 7, and 10 year annualized returns for periods ended 3.31.15

Provide the following information on the composite presented in this proposal:
1. Source of data
2. Actual performance
3. Equal or dollar-weighted
4. CFA INSTITUTE standards compliance (if yes, which level?)
5. The name of the firm that audits your returns and a copy of their verification letter with contact information

5. Are your returns submitted based on:

	______ Composite of separately managed accounts 
	______ Equal Weighted or ______Size Weighted
	______ Prior Affiliation
	______ Representative separately managed accounts 
	______ Commingled/Mutual Fund
	______ Simulation (please discuss fully)

6. Provide a full description of the composite for which you are submitting performance history, including the asset size and number of accounts.

7. If you are submitting a composite of separately managed accounts, are terminated accounts still reflected in the composite for when they were active accounts?

8. If you manage other dedicated portfolios for the proposed product which are not included in the performance history submitted, state your reasons for excluding them.

9. What is an appropriate benchmark to measure your performance for this product?  Why? What do you believe are reasonable performance goals and time frame?

10. Are cash returns mixed with asset returns? Has this policy been consistently applied since inception of the composite?

11. For each of the last five calendar years (beginning with 2010) provide the following information (follow format shown below):

Calendar Year 2010
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:

Calendar Year 2011
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:

Calendar Year 2012
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:

	Calendar Year 2013
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:

Calendar Year 2014
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:

Calendar Year 2015 to March 31
	Portfolio Return: ________
Benchmark Return: ________
Excess Return: ________

	Positive Contributors to Relative Performance:
	Negative Contributors to Relative Performance:




	REPORTING INFORMATION

1. Provide a sample of your firm's most recent monthly report.

2. Please provide a copy of your firm’s current SEC Form ADV (Parts I and II).

3. Discuss your firm's contract and investment policy compliance procedures.  What is the interaction between the trading desk, the portfolio manager, and compliance?

4. Describe the process of ensuring that portfolios are managed within client guidelines.

5. What pricing sources do you use?












	PORTFOLIO CHARACTERISTICS

1. Please complete the following five tables with portfolio characteristics for the proposed product as of 3/31/15.


PORTFOLIO CHARACTERISTIC SUMMARY

	
	As of March 31, 2015

	Average Weighted Market Capitalization
	

	Median Market Capitalization
	

	Price/Earnings (trailing 12 month)
	

	Price/Earnings (forward 12 month)
	

	Price/Book
	

	Dividend Yield
	

	Earnings Growth Rate (trailing 12 month)
	

	Earnings Growth Rate (forward 12 month)
	

	Beta (vs. MSCI ACWI ex US)
	

	Alpha (vs. MSCI ACWI ex US)
	

	R-Squared (vs. MSCI ACWI ex US)
	





MARKET CAPITALIZATION SUMMARY

	
	3/31/2011
	3/31/2012
	3/31/2013
	3/31/2014
	3/31/2015

	Large Cap
	
	
	
	
	

	Mid Cap
Small Cap
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	
	
	
	



Definitions:	Large Cap: 	More than $10 billion in total cap
		Mid Cap: 	Less than $10 billion more than $2 billion in total cap
Small Cap: 	Less than $2 billion total cap

	
COUNTRY EXPOSURE BY TYPE

	
	3/31/2011
	3/31/2012
	3/31/2013
	3/31/2014
	3/31/2015

	Developed
	
	
	
	
	

	Emerging
Frontier
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	
	
	
	


	
COUNTRY WEIGHTING SUMMARY

	Country Weightings
	3/31/2011
	3/31/2012
	3/31/2013
	3/31/2014
	3/31/2015
	

	Argentina
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Australia 
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Austria
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Belgium
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Brazil
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Canada
	
	
	
	
	
	

	China
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Denmark
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finland
	
	
	
	
	
	

	France
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Germany
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Hong Kong
	
	
	
	
	
	

	India
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Indonesia
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Israel
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Ireland
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Italy
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Japan
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Korea
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Malaysia
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Mexico
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Netherlands
	
	
	
	
	
	

	New Zealand
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Norway
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Philippines
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Portugal
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Singapore
	
	
	
	
	
	

	South Korea
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Spain
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sweden
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Switzerland
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Thailand
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Taiwan
	
	
	
	
	
	

	United Kingdom
	
	
	
	
	
	

	United States
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Venezuela
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	



(Please add other countries to this table as necessary)
SECTOR WEIGHTING SUMMARY

	Sector Weightings
	3/31/2011
	3/31/2012
	3/31/2013
	3/31/2014
	3/31/2015

	Aerospace & Military Technology
	
	
	
	
	

	Autos and Transportation
	
	
	
	
	

	Beverages & Tobacco
	
	
	
	
	

	Capital Equipment
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash & Forward Contracts
	
	
	
	
	

	Chemicals
	
	
	
	
	

	Construction & Housing
	
	
	
	
	

	Consumer Discretionary & Services
	
	
	
	
	

	Consumer Goods
	
	
	
	
	

	Consumer Staples
	
	
	
	
	

	Electrical & Electronics
	
	
	
	
	

	Energy
	
	
	
	
	

	Food & Household Products
	
	
	
	
	

	Forest Products & Paper
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial Services
	
	
	
	
	

	Health Care
	
	
	
	
	

	Industrials
	
	
	
	
	

	Insurance
	
	
	
	
	

	Integrated Oils
	
	
	
	
	

	Machinery & Engineering
	
	
	
	
	

	Materials & Processing
	
	
	
	
	

	Merchandising
	
	
	
	
	

	Metals - Steel
	
	
	
	
	

	Multi-Industry
	
	
	
	
	

	Other  
	
	
	
	
	

	Producer Durables
	
	
	
	
	

	Technology
	
	
	
	
	

	Telecommunications
	
	
	
	
	

	Utilities
	
	
	
	
	

	Total
	
	
	
	
	









	FEES

1. Provide the standard fee schedule for separately managed International Equity accounts.

2. Provide the standard fee schedule for public funds.

3. Provide your incentive fee structure.
4. Are fees negotiable?




































	ATTACHMENTS

1. Provide any additional information that you feel would aid in the assessment of your firm
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